### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 21 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

MARBLEE SEABROOK,

Petitioner,

v. : CASE NO. 80,953

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. McGINNES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 230502
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

#### I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Marblee Seabrook was the defendant in the trial court, appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District, and will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name.

Reference to the volume of the record containing the pleadings and orders filed in this cause will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to the volume of the record containing a transcript of the jury selection conducted February 18, 1991, will be by use of the symbol "J" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to the volume of the record containing a transcript of appellant's jury trial, conducted February 22, 1991, will be by use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to the volume of the record containing a transcript of the sentencing

proceedings of March 25, 1991, will be by use of the symbol "S" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing copies of the opinion filed in this case by the district court, as well as other matters pertinent to the case. Reference to the appendix will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Count I of an information containing two charges alleged that petitioner and Tammy Coleman, on January 25, 1990, sold or delivered a controlled substance, cocaine, to a confidential informant, contrary to Section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1989). Count II alleged that petitioner and Coleman, on February 25, 1990, was in actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance, cocaine, contrary to Section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1989)(R-1).

Petitioner proceeded to a trial by jury which returned verdicts finding him guilty of both charges (T-52-53).

The state gave notice of intent to seek enhanced penalties as a habitual felony offender (R-14). At sentencing, defense counsel acknowledged receipt of the notice (S-13). The state introduced into evidence, without objection, certified copies of five prior felony convictions (S-13-14). The trial court found that they qualified for the predicate convictions required by statute for habitual felony offender purposes (S-14). Upon inquiry by the court, defense counsel indicated that the defense had no evidence that any of the predicate convictions had been pardoned or set aside. The court then found petitioner to be a habitual felony offender (S-15). Petitioner was adjudged guilty of both offenses and sentenced to two, concurrent, five-year terms of imprisonment and a habitual felony offender, with credit (S-1-22, R-101-106).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (R-99), petitioner was adjudged insolvent, and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal.

By opinion dated November 18, 1992, the district court affirmed petitioner's convictions and sentences, but certified to this Court the following issue, which had also been certified in Hodges v. State, 596 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992):

DOES SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), DENY EITHER DUE PROCESS OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW UNDER EITHER THE FLORIDA OR THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, OR VIOLATE THE DOCTRINE OF SEPARATION OF POWERS, AS SET FORTH IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

(A-1-2).

The state filed a timely petition for rehearing (A-3-4), petitioner filed a reply (A-5-6) and, on December 14, 1992, the petition for rehearing was denied (A-7).

Notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed December 18, 1992 (A-8-9).

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this appeal, petitioner argues that Florida's habitual felony offender statute, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1991), deprives those sentenced under its provisions of equal protection and due process of law; violates the principle of separation of powers by depriving judges of sentence prerogative on a broad range of offenses, and further establishes a capricious system of selective punishment which has no standards of application, is non-appealable, and unreviewable by any tribunal, all contrary to the provisions of both the Constitution of the State of Florida and the Constitution of the United States of America.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

THE FLORIDA HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFEN-DER STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY INEQUIT-ABLE, IRRATIONAL, VAGUE, AND SUBJECT TO ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS APPLICATION; PROVIDES NO DUE PROCESS OF LAW; VIOLATES THE PRINCIPLE OF SEPARATION OF POWERS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION; AND TO THE FOURTH, FIFTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

The district court in this case certified the following issue to this Court as involving a question of great public importance:

DOES SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), DENY EITHER DUE PROCESS OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW UNDER EITHER THE FLORIDA OR THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION; OR VIOLATE THE DOCTRINE OF SEPARATION OF POWERS, AS SET FORTH IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

(A-1-2). Petitioner requests the Court to answer the certified question "yes," for the reasons that follow.

The record indicates petitioner was found guilty of sale and possession of cocaine (T-52-53). At sentencing, petitioner was treated and sentenced as a habitual felony offender pursuant to Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1991), with respect to both offenses (R-101-106, S-1-22).

Petitioner contends the trial court erred in sentencing him as a habitual felony offender because the statute is facially unconstitutional. Because petitioner is attacking the facial validity of the statute, the issue can be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983).

The Florida habitual offender statute is unconstitutional in several respects. Petitioner acknowledges the district court has ruled the previous version of the statute to be constitutional in <a href="Barber v. State">Barber v. State</a>, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <a href="rev. den.">rev. den.</a>, No. 76,482 (Fla. Dec. 14, 1990); and that the conclusions of <a href="Barber">Barber</a> apply equally to the amended statute <a href="[Love v. State">[Love v. State</a>, 569 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)]. The arguments set forth in each of those cases are adopted here, in addition to the arguments set forth below, not expressly addressed in Barber.

As was recognized in <u>Barber</u>, <u>supra</u>, substantive due process prohibits statutes which are discriminatory, arbitrary and capricious. The Florida habitual offender statute, as amended, is utterly arbitrary and capricious in its potential application. The broad sweep of the statute, the lack of standards governing its application, and the exemption of those sentenced under it from parole, the guidelines, and most types of gain-time virtually guarantee impermissible disparities in sentencing. The inherent capriciousness and unavoidable arbitrariness of application render the statute invalid.

Before inception of the sentencing guidelines in 1983, statutory maximums and the review of sentences by a parole commission provided some uniformity of sentences among those convicted of similar crimes. The guidelines then attempted to provide for similar sentences for those similarly situated, in exchange for the loss of the opportunity for parole.

Florida's earlier habitual offender statute provided for sentences outside the statutory maximums, but not outside the guidelines, unless other reasons for departure existed. And, arising contemporaneously with the sentencing guidelines were new forms of gain time, which were applied uniformly to most inmates serving guideline sentences.

Florida's present statute, however, destroys objectivity in sentencing. Its low-threshold requirements make the statute applicable to a substantial number, if not a solid majority, of those persons sentenced to prison in the State of Florida. Yet, of the tens of thousands who are eligible for sentencing under this statute, only those chosen by a prosecutor—in a NECESSARILY arbitrary manner—are actually sentenced under its provisions. Others who commit the same offense under the same circumstances and with the same prior records will escape the operation of the statute, for no expressible reason other than fortune.

The court stated in <u>Barber</u>, <u>supra</u>, that "[t]he type of discretion afforded the prosecutor under this law is constitutionally permissible, <u>for it is no different from that afforded a prosecutor in other areas of the law"</u> (at 1172) (emphasis supplied). The court then went on to give examples, <u>i.e.</u>, that prosecutors choose who to prosecute, who to charge with capital offenses, who to offer plea bargains to, and which of two statutes to proceed under. (<u>Id</u>., at 1172) But each of those examples used by the court is distinguishable from the "discretion" used in applying the habitual felony offender statute in

this specific manner: in each of the instances cited, there is no necessary uniformity in the class of affected persons, and perceivable, articulable reasons could be given for each choice made.

Under the habitual felony statute, the very elements of the definition guarantee a homogenous class of highly similar, if not identical, affected persons. The choice by a prosecutor to proceed against some, and not all under the habitual offender statute, is, therefore, necessarily arbitrary, and that is the infirmity that distinguishes this situation from those cited in Barber.

Both the district court and the Supreme Court of the United States have stated that "only a contention that persons within the habitual-offender class are being selected according to some unjustifiable standard, such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification, would raise a potentially viable challenge." Barber, at 1170, citing Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357 (1978); and Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448 (1962). Yet it is just such a contention that petitioner is unable to make under the rulings of the district court which do not require any demonstration or articulation of a prosecutor's reasons for seeking enhancement against one person as opposed to another.

There are no standards; there is no possibility of review. The district court, by its findings, would have all persons who qualify as habitual felony offenders to rely upon some hopedfor fairness in prosecutors, because nobody, no court anywhere,

is permitted to look over the shoulder of those prosecutors to determine if persons within the habitual offender class are being selected according to some unjustifiable standard, such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification. Due process of law is not only violated; it is not provided.

In the case of <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that "the 1988 amendment to subsection 775.084(3) changed that determination of habitual offender <u>status</u> from a discretionary determination to a ministerial determination." 597 So.2d at 313. The court then made the anomalous observation that:

The trial judge, however, does retain the discretion to exercise leniency and to sentence a defendant found to be an habitual felony offender or an habitual violent felony offender to a sentence less severe than the maximum sentence that is permitted by subsections 775.084(4)(a) or (b).

597 So.2d at 314.

Once the <u>ministerial</u> designation of a person as an habitual felony offender is accomplished, all of the sanctions regarding loss of gain time are applicable, and sentencing discretion is effectively removed from the trial court. Even were the sentencing court to place a designated habitual felony offender on a probationary grant, a violation of that probation would result in maximum time served within the permitted one-cell bump up.

Further, the district court has construed the statute to remove from the sentencing judge any discretion over sentence length. Donald v. State, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

Once the prosecutor determines—under whatever nonreviewable standards employed (if, indeed, standards even exist)—to seek habitual offender status, the trial court's sentencing discretion is usurped, and the court must then impose the sentence mandated by the statute upon a showing that the defendant qualifies.

The power to fix maximum and minimum punishments properly rests with the legislature. Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380, 385 (Fla. 1983). That power does not extend, however, to fixing specific, required penalties for commission of any felony by repeat offenders, then granting to the executive branch the power to select some offenders, but not others, to receive this penalty. Unlike mandatory penalties fixed for capital crimes and those involving firearms, where the application of the required penalties is uniform, the habitual offender statute permits the executive branch to determine who shall and shall not receive enhanced penalties.

Thus, as interpreted by the district court in <u>Donald</u>, <u>supra</u>, section 775.084, Florida Statutes, and by the second district in <u>King v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, violates the constitutional principle of separation of powers, and infringes on the judicial power established in Article V, section 1 of the Florida Constitution.

In summary, section 775.084 violates the equal protection clause because it creates irrational classifications and removes the levelling influence of the sentencing guidelines and parole eligibility from certain defendants; it violates

constitutional guarantees of due process because the means selected to achieve its purpose—and the tremendous disparities in sentences it produces—are unreasonable, arbitrary, and capricious; it eliminates any notion of due process because the means selected to achieve its purpose are inarticulable, and not subject to review; and, it violates the constitutional principle of separation of powers by taking from courts their inherent authority to fix punishments within the parameters established by the legislature, and granting said authority to prosecutors, without providing a means of review. For these reasons and others specifically rejected by the district Court in <u>Barber</u>, the Florida habitual felony offender statute is unconstitutional.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Because the habitual felony offender statute is unconstitutional, petitioner requests the Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative, vacate the sentences appealed from, and remand the cause to the trial court with directions to resentence petitioner to non-habitual felony offender sentences.