IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

MARBLEE SEABROOK,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 80,953

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state supplements Petitioner's statement with the following.

Counsel for petitioner Seabrook first filed a brief in the district court pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) acknowledging that no arguably reversible errors occurred but suggesting that the trial court failed to expressly find that the predicate five felonies for habitual felony sentencing had not been set aside or pardoned and thus should be reversed. Anderson v. State, 592 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review pending, Case No. 79,535. (Appellant's initial brief of 20 March 1992.) Appellate counsel then filed another initial brief, with the permission of the district court, raising the Anderson issue and, for the first time, a claim that section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989) was inequitable, irrational, vague, subject to arbitrary and capricious application, that it provides no due process, and violates the separation of powers. (Appellant's initial brief of 7 April 1992.) The district court affirmed but nevertheless certified the purported question of great public importance from Hodges v. State, 596 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review pending, Case No. 79,728. The state petitioned for rehearing arguing that the certified question on the constitutionality of section 775.084 was unnecessary in view of the numerous decisions of this Court upholding the plenary authority of the Florida Legislature to impose habitual felon sentencing. Appellant Seabrook opposed, and the district court

denied, the state's petition for rehearing. Copies of the parties briefs and petitions below, and the district court opinion are in the appendix.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- l. The constitutionality of section 775.084 was not raised in the trial court. Only the facial validity of the statute could be raised on appeal. The district court below erred in addressing claims not grounded on facial overbreadth and facial vagueness.
- 2. This Court should not reach the issues of due process, equal protection, and separation of powers but, if it does, the claims have been consistently and specifically rejected by previous decisions of this Court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ADDRESSING AND CERTIFYING ISSUES NOT PROPERLY COGNIZABLE UNDER A CHALLENGE OF FACIAL CONSTITUTIONALITY?

Petitioner was sentenced as an habitual (nonviolent) felon under section 775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989). No objections were entered and no sentencing issues were preserved. S 12-22. Both here and in the district court below, petitioner raises a broad challenge to the constitutionality of section 775.084(1)(a), as applied to him and to others. This broad challenge is contrary to the scope of a challenge permitted to the facial validity of a statute under case law from both this Court and the United States Supreme Court.

There are two permitted prongs to a facial validity challenge: overbreadth and vagueness. <u>Sandstrom v. Lender</u>, 370 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1979). Justice Overton, for this Court, set out the permitted scope of these two prongs in <u>Southeastern Fisheries Association</u>, Inc. v. Dept. of <u>Natural Resources</u>, 453 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984).

Too often, courts and lawyers use the "overbroad" terms and "vague" interchangeably. Ιt should understood that the doctrines overbreadth and vagueness are separate and distinct. The overbreadth doctrine applies only if the legislation "is susceptible of application to conduct protected by the First Amendment." Carricarte v. State, 384 So.2d 1261,

1262 (Fla.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 874, 101 S.Ct. 215, 66 L.Ed.2d 95 (1980) (citing Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 90 S.Ct. 1153, 25 L.Ed.2d 491 (1970)). See also McKenney v. State, 388 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 1980); State v. Ashcraft, 378 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1979). See generally Note, The First Amendment Overbreadth Doctrine, 83 Harv.L.Rev. 844 (1970). The vagueness doctrine has a broader application, however, because it was developed to assure compliance with the due process clause of the United States Constitution.

A vague statute is one that fails to give adequate notice of what conduct is prohibited and which, because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Id.

Overbreadth is a standing doctrine which permits parties in cases involving the first amendment to argue that the statute is invalid because of its effect on the first amendment rights of others not present before the court. Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed.2d 830 (1973). Similarly, "an attack . . . as unconstitutionally overbroad will not lie absent an assertion that the provision proscribes constitutionally protected speech or activities. [cites omitted.]" Sandstrom v. Lender, 370 So.2d 3, 5 (Fla. 1979).

The United States Supreme Court has spoken similarly in Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489, 494-495, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed.2d 362, 369 (1982).

In a facial challenge to the overbreadth and vagueness of a law, a court's first to determine whether enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. The court should then examine the facial vagueness challenge and, assuming the enactment implicates no constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment if impermissibly vague in all of its applications. plaintiff who engages in some conduct clearly proscribed complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. should therefore examine complainant's conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law.

Id. (footnotes omitted).

In footnote 5 to the above, the Court made it clear that a facial vagueness challenge faces an exceptionally high hurdle: "A 'facial' challenge in this context, means a claim that the law is "invalid in toto-and therefore incapable of any valid application.' [cite omitted]." Id.

Petitioner does not argue here, and did not argue in the district court, that his or anyone's first amendment rights are implicated by the recidivist statute, section 775.084(1)(a), or sentence. Thus, there can be no challenge for overbreadth. Southeastern Fisheries, Hoffman Estates, Sandstrom.

For similar reasons, petitioner, except for labeling the challenge as facial, has not in substance challenged the facial vagueness of the statute. Sections 775.084(1)(a), (3) and (4)

are not merely unmistakably clear; they unmistakably apply to petitioner who unquestionably meets the criteria for habitual felony sentencing. Thus, as a matter of settled law, petitioner cannot argue that the statute might be unconstitutionally applied to some one else. Southeastern Fisheries, Sandstrom, Hoffman Estates.

This Court should hold that the mislabeled facial validity challenges here and in the district court were not cognizable for the first time on appeal.

The state acknowledges that the above analysis relying on the settled case law of this Court and of the United States Supreme Court may not survive this Court's recent expansive dicta in State v. Johnson, Case No. 79,150 & 79,204 (Fla. January 14, 1993). There, this Court arguably states that the constitutionality of any statute involving a liberty interest, i.e., any criminal statute, may be raised for the first time on appeal to determine if the statute has been unconstitutionally applied to the defendant. As this is written, the state is seeking rehearing and clarification of the Johnson decision.

ISSUE II

ARE THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 775.084
APPLICABLE TO HABITUAL NONVIOLENT
FELONIES UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

The district court affirmed petitioner's sentence as an habitual nonviolent felon but inexplicably certified the question from Hodges v. State, 596 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review pending, Case No. 79,728, concerning the constitutionality of the habitual violent felony statute. Although it would appear that the certified question is inapposite and has been answered countless times, the district court rejected without explanation the state's petition to withdraw the certified question. (The state notes that petitioner's brief here at page i also refers to the "violent" felony statute.)

If the question refers to the violent felony statute certified in Hodges, it should be answered no. Ross v. State, 601 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1992); Tillman v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S707 (Fla. November 19, 1992); Funchess v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S719 (Fla. November 25, 1992); Warren v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S719 (Fla. November 25, 1992); Simmons v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S719 (Fla. November 25, 1992); Merriweather v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S719 (Fla. November 25, 1992); Raulerson v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S720 (Fla. November 25, 1992); Reeves v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S738 (Fla. December 3, 1992); Reeves v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S739 (Fla. December 3, 1992); Hall v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S739 (Fla. December 3, 1992); Scott v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S739 (Fla. December 3, 1992); Jolly v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S740 (Fla. December 3, 1992); Jolly v.

State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S740 (Fla. December 3, 1992); <u>Perkins v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S79 (Fla. January 21, 1993).

If the question is addressed to the habitual nonviolent statute, it should be answered no on the authority of relevant language in Ross, Tillman, Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980), Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962), Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1956), Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928), recognizing the settled authority of the Florida Legislature to define criminal offenses and to prescribe thereof to criminal recidivists. particularly, Cross specifically holding that greater punishment for recidivists is not a violation of constitutional provisions against ex post facto, double jeopardy, "cruel and unusual punishment," claims and rights to jury trial, equal protection, and due process. See, also, Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), review denied, Case No. 76,482 (Fla. 1990) and Love v. State, 569 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) where the district court canvassed case law and upheld the constitutional validity of the statute.

This Court should not reach the merits of the improper challenge to the facial constitutionality of the statute but, if it does, the district court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The district court should be affirmed without reaching the merits on the basis that the challenge to the facial constitutionality was improperly grounded on non-cognizable arguments. Alternatively, if the merits are reached, the certified question should be answered no.